A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court deprived Mr. Afeworki a fair trial by requiring 

him to wear electronic restraints. 

2. The trial court denied Mr. Afeworki his right to counsel. 

3. In the absence of evidence to support it, the trial court erred in 

entering Finding of Fact 10, regarding its refusal to appoint Mr. 

Afeworki a new attorney. 

4. Assuming Mr. Afeworki properly waived his right to counsel, 

the trial court punished Mr. Afeworki for the exercise of that right by 

conditioning it upon wearing restraints. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment and Article I, section 

22 guarantee a defendant the right to appear in trial free from bonds and 

shackles absent extraordinary circumstances. The decision to require a 

defendant to be restrained during trial requires a trial court to consider 

the person's history of escape attempts or assaultive behavior as well as 

the risk of future behavior. A court may not simply defer to the wishes 

of correctional staff. Here, although Mr. Afeworki had no history of 

escape attempts or assaultive conduct, jail staff insisted he be restrained 

solely because he was representing himself at trial. When the trial court 
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deferred to the correctional staff's insistence that Mr. Afeworki wear a 

shock device throughout trial did the court deprive Mr. Afeworki of a 

fair trial? 

2. The Sixth Amendment and Article I, section 22 guarantee the 

right to appointed counsel. That right may be waived only with full 

understanding of the consequences. Where Mr. Afeworki did not 

request to waive counsel, was misadvised as to the penalty he faced if 

convicted, and was not told that he would be required to wear a shock 

device if he represented himself, did he knowingly, intelligently and 

voluntarily waive his right to counsel? 

3. The Sixth Amendment and Article I, section 22 guarantee the 

right to appointed counsel. In limited circumstances that right may be 

waived by a person's conduct. However, the person must first be 

warned that their continued behavior will result in a waiver of counsel. 

Where the trial court never warned Mr. Afeworki that his conduct may 

lead to a waiver of his right to counsel, did the trial court deny him the 

right to counsel when it permitted defense counsel to withdraw but 

refused to appoint new counsel? 

4. A court may not penalize a person for exercising a 

constitutional right. The Sixth Amendment and Article I, section 22 
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guarantee a person the right to represent himself at trial. Assuming Mr. 

Afeworki validly waived his right to counsel and exercised his right to 

self-representation, did the court improperly penalize him for the 

exercise of that right where as a consequence it required him to wear a 

shock device? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Michael Y ohannes was shot in the head as he stood on a busy 

comer in Downtown Seattle. 7129113 RP 138. Mr. Yohannes died 

shortly thereafter. 

Police were directed to a nearby restaurant where witnesses 

claimed the shooter had fled. 7/30113 RP 147-48. Mr. Afeworki was 

arrested inside that restaurant. After viewing him as he stood 

handcuffed between two police officers, two witnesses were able to say 

that clothing Mr. Afeworki was wearing resembled that worn by the 

shooter. 4116/13 RP 72; 7/30113 RP 63,94. 

The State charged Mr. Afeworki with first degree murder. CP 1. 

Immediately before a jury trial was to begin, the trial court 

granted defense counsel's motion to withdraw. 7/17113 RP 58-60. 

Counsel based the motion on his belief that Mr. Afeworki had 

threatened him. Mr. Afeworki explained he had only threatened to sue 
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counsel. 7/16/13 RP 34. Mr. Afeworki asked for new counsel. 7/17/13 

60. The State agreed Mr. Afeworki was entitled to new counsel. 

7/18113 RP 63. The court refused to appoint counsel. 7117113 RP 70. 

Instead, and although Mr. Afeworki was not asking to waive his 

right to counsel and had asked for new counsel, the court engaged in 

colloquy as if Mr. Afeworki was requesting to proceed pro se. 7/17/13 

RP 72-78. During the course of that colloquy, the Court misadvised 

him of the maximum punishment that he faced. Id. at 73. Although it 

had already allowed counsel to withdraw and refused to appoint new 

counsel, the court concluded Mr. Afeworki had knowingly, intelligently 

and voluntarily waived his right to counsel. 711811 RP 118 

Immediately thereafter, an attorney representing the King 

County Jail insisted that solely because he was representing himself 

Mr. Afeworki would be restrained either by shackles or an electronic 

shock device. 7118/13 RP 147. Without requiring the jail to explain its 

rational, and instead simply accepting the inevitability of restraints, the 

court ordered that Mr. Afeworki wear an electronic shock device 

throughout trial. Id. at 152. That device although concealed by clothing 

could deliver a debilitating shock when remotely activated by a 

correctional officer. Id. at 148. 
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A jury convicted Mr. Afeworki as charged. CP 484. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. By requiring Mr. Afeworki to wear a shock device 
throughout trial, the trial court deprived him of his 
right to a fair trial. 

a. A defendant has the right to appear in court free of 
restraints. 

Criminal defendants have long been entitled to appear in court 

free from bonds and shackles absent extraordinary circumstances. U.S. 

Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. 1, § 22; Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 

337,338,90 S. Ct. 1057,25 L.Ed.2d 353 (1970); In re Personal 

Restraint of Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647,693, 101 P.3d 1 (2004); State v. 

Williams, 18 Wash. 47,50,50 P. 580 (1897) (referring to the "ancient" 

right to appear in court free from shackles). Physical restraints 

denigrate the defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial by reversing 

the presumption of innocence and prejudicing the jury against him. 

Deck v. Missouri, 544 U.S. 622, 630, 125 S. Ct. 2007, 161 L .Ed. 2d 

953 (2005); Allen, 397 U.S. at 344; Davis, 152 Wn.2d at 693-94. 

Beyond that, the use of restraints is also an affront to the dignity 

accorded to an American courtroom. Deck, 544 U.S. at 631; Allen, 297 

at 344. The court in Deck observed: 
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The courtroom's formal dignity, which includes the 
respectful treatment of defendants, reflects the 
importance of the matter at issue, guilt or innocence, and 
the gravity with which Americans consider any 
deprivation of an individual's liberty through criminal 
punishment. And it reflects a seriousness of purpose that 
helps to explain the judicial system's power to inspire the 
confidence and to affect the behavior of a general public 
whose demands for justice our courts seek to serve. The 
routine use of shackles in the presence of juries would 
undermine these symbolic yet concrete objectives. As 
this Court has said, the use of shackles at trial 
"affront [ s]" the "dignity and decorum of judicial 
proceedings that the judge is seeking to uphold." [Allen, 
supra, at 344]; see also Trial a/Christopher Layer, 16 
How. St. Tr., at 99 (statement of Mr. Hungerford) ("[T]o 
have a man plead for his life" in shackles before "a court 
of justice, the highest in the kingdom for criminal 
matters, where the king himself is supposed to be 
personally present," undermines the "dignity of the 
Court"). 

Deck, 544 U.S. at 631-32. 

In addition, restraining a defendant restricts his ability to assist 

counsel during trial, interferes with the right to testify in one's own 

behalf, and may even confuse or embarrass the defendant sufficiently to 

impair his ability to reason. Deck, 544 U.S. at 631; Allen, 397 U.S. at 

345; State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792,845,975 P.2d 967 (and cases cited 

therein), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 922 (1999); Williams, 18 Wash. at 50-

51. 
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Because of the constitutional rights at stake, a court cannot 

require a defendant be restrained in court except in extraordinary 

circumstances. Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 846; Williams, 18 Wash. at 51. 

The trial court must base its decision to physically 
restrain a defendant on evidence which indicates that the 
defendant poses an imminent risk of escape, that the 
defendant intends to injure someone in the courtroom, or 
that the defendant cannot behave in an orderly manner in 
the courtroom. 

Davis, 152 Wn.2d at 695. Restraints must be used as a "last resort," 

when less restrictive alternatives are not possible. Allen, 397 U.S. at 

344; Davis, 137 Wn.2d at 693. The determination must be based on 

facts in the record. State v Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 400, 635 P.2d 684 

(1981). Finally, the trial court and not corrections officers must make 

the decision of whether a defendant is or is not shackled. Finch 137 

Wn.2d at 853. 

b. The trial court required Mr. Afeworki wear a shock 
device without considering the need of restraint and 
instead deferred entirely to the wishes of jail staff. 

The use of electronic restraints raises these same constitutional 

concerns. Gonzalez v. Pliler, 341 F.3d 897, 899 (9th Cir. 2003). But 

electronic restraints raise concerns beyond those created by physical 

restraints. Courts have found that "[g]iven 'the nature of the device and 

its effect upon the wearer when activated, requiring an unwilling 
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defendant to wear a stun belt during trial may have significant 

psychological consequences. '" Id. at 900 (quoting People v. Mar, 28 

Cal.4th 1201, 124 Cal.Rptr.2d 161, 52 P.3d 95,97 (2002)). "A stun belt 

is far more likely to have an impact on a defendant's trial strategy than 

are shackles, as a belt may interfere with the defendant's ability to 

direct his own defense." United States v. Durham, 287 F.3d 1297, 1306 

(11 th Cir. 2002). That concern must necessarily be greater where the 

defendant is representing himself, as he is not only precluded from 

actively engaging with counsel in the presentation of his defense but is 

impeded in presenting any defense at all. 

Here, the trial court deferred entirely to the policy decisions 

made by jail staff. As a direct outcome of Mr. Afeworki's self

representation, an attorney representing the jail announced to the court 

that Mr. Afeworki "would not be hands free" during trial. 7/18/13 RP 

147. Indeed, on its own initiative, the jail had brought Mr. Afeworki to 

court that day bound with leg irons and with his hands shackled to a 

"belly chain." Id. at 147, 149. Mr. Afeworki was not required to wear 

restraints at any previous point and had made no effort to escape or 

harm anyone. The jail insisted that because he represented himself Mr. 

Afeworki must be shackled. Id. at 147. 
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Mr. Afeworki objected noting both his lack of any history of 

security problems and the fact that the jail's decision was motivated 

solely by his self-representation. Mr. Afeworki observed he would not 

be shackled if he were represented by counsel and said "I am being 

punished for [representing myself] by the jail and the courts." 7118/13 

RP152. Mr. Afeworki rightly pointed to the presence of guards in the 

courtroom and said but "on top of that I have an animal zapper. I am 

not being treated as person [sic] is innocent until proven guilty. 

Basically I am guilty right now." Id. at lSI. 

The trial court never required the jail staff to explain why it 

believed Mr. Afeworki's self-representation led inescapably to the need 

to shackle him. The court did not address why the previous security 

arrangements were insufficient. The court did not identify any behavior 

by Mr. Afeworki necessitating any restraint. And, the court never made 

any findings detailing any factual basis justifying the extraordinary 

measures. Without requiring any further explanation the court said "I 

am going to accept the representations of the jail as to the security risk 

level of the defendant." 7118/13 RP 152. The court accepted as a 

foregone conclusion the need for restraints as a necessary consequence 

ofMr. Afeworki's self-representation and busied itself only with the 
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false choice of whether Mr. Afeworki would be brought to court in 

visible shackles or electronic restraints. 

The court did not engage in any meaningful analysis of the 

need for restraints based upon actions by Mr. Afeworki. Instead, the 

court simply deferred to the blanket policy of the King County jail to 

shackle pro se defendants. However, the decision to shackle in the 

courtroom must be made by the trial judge and not corrections officers. 

Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 853. By simply adopting the blanket policy of the 

jail, the trial court erred in ordering Mr. Afeworki to wear restraints 

throughout trial. 

c. The improper restraint deprived Mr. Afeworki of a fair 
trial and requires reversal of his conviction. 

Because it infringes on several constitutional rights, improper 

shackling of a defendant is presumptively prejudicial and requires 

reversal unless the State can demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt 

"the [shackling] error complained of did not contribute to the verdict 

obtained." Deck, 544 U.S. at 635 (bracketed text in original) (citing 

Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18,24,87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 

(1967)). 
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Typically where physical restrains have been used, the prejudice 

inquiry has focused on whether jurors could see the restraints. That 

approach is of little utility with stun belts for a number of reasons. 

First, a prejudice inquiry which focuses solely on visibility will 

create a toothless rule - one that decries the improper use of electronic 

restraints but which will never require reversal for such improper use. 

By its nature the shock device used here is designed to be worn under a 

person's clothing. Thus, while it would be unconstitutional to employ it 

as a routine practice, such use would never be prejudicial. 

Additionally, focusing upon the visibility of restraints addresses 

only one of the constitutional violations that restraints pose - upsetting 

the presumption of innocence. The use of restraints also deprives a 

defendant the ability to meaningfully present a defense, and "is itself 

something of an affront to the very dignity and decorum of judicial 

proceeding." Allen, 397 U.S. at 344. Whether or not restraints are visible 

is of limited value in measuring the harm caused to the decorum and 

dignity of the proceedings. And visibility is wholly irrelevant in 

assessing the impact on a defendant's ability to assist in his defense, or 

as in a case like this one to represent himself. 
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Further, focusing on the visibility of the restraints does not 

account for the differing effects shock devices have on the restrained 

person. The effectiveness of traditional shackles lies in their ability to 

impede the movements of a fleeing person. While electronic shackling 

has the same ability to impede a fleeing person it also creates a 

psychological deterrent which physical shackles cannot, a fear of 

electric shock and resulting pain. That fear exists whether the restraint 

is visible or not. Moreover, shock belts create a risk and resulting fear 

of accidental shocks or shocks for innocent yet misinterpreted 

movements or gestures. Thus, weighing the prejudice caused by the 

restraint solely in terms of is visibility to a jury ignores the actual effect 

and prejudice caused by the restraint. 

In addition, the psychological impact of a shock device effects 

the defendant's ability to interact with others in court whether that is 

counsel, a judge a witness or a jury. See Gonzalez, 341 F.3d at 900; 

Durham, 287 F.3d 1297, 1306 (11 th Cir. 2002). That prejudice is 

heightened where the defendant chooses to testify - as a witness 

demeanor is often a critical factor for jurors. And that prejudice is again 

increased where a defendant is acting as his own counsel. Yet at the 

same time that psychological effect is impossible to measure. The 
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decision in Nevada v. Riggins, 504 U.S. 127, 137, 112 S. Ct. 1810,118 

L.Ed.2d 479 (1992), explains this point. 

In Riggins, prior to trial a defendant objected to the continued 

administration of psychotropic drugs because such drugs would alter the 

manner in which the jury perceived him. 504 U.S. 130-31. The trial court 

overruled his objection. Id. The Supreme Court reversed his conviction 

finding the forced medication in that circumstance deprived him of due 

process.ld. at 135-37. Addressing the question of prejudice, the Court said 

Efforts to prove or disprove actual prejudice from the 
record before us would be futile, and guesses whether the 
outcome of the trial might have been different if Riggins' 
motion had been granted would be purely speculative .... 
Like the consequences of compelling a defendant to wear 
prison clothing, see Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501,504-
505,96 S. Ct. 1691,48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976), or of binding 
and gagging an accused during trial, see [Allen, 397 U.S., at 
344] the precise consequences of forcing antipsychotic 
medication upon Riggins cannot be shown from a trial 
transcript. 

Riggins, 504 U.S. at 137. Not only did the Court recognize the futility of 

attempting to divine prejudice from the record, it did so by relying upon 

shackling cases. In doing so, the Court plainly envisioned a prejudice 

analysis far more searching than simply determining whether the restraint 

was visible. 

The State cannot demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that 

requiring Mr. Afeworki to wear a shock device did not affect his ability to 

13 



present a defense, to testify, and to cross-examine witnesses all while 

representing himself. The State cannot prove the electronic restraint did 

not impact his demeanor and more importantly the jury's perceptions. This 

Court should reverse his conviction. 

2. The trial court deprived Mr. Afeworki of his right 
to counsel. 

a. The trial court refused to appoint counsel after 
previous counsel withdrew. 

On July 16, the court denied Mr. Afeworki's request to 

proceed pro se. 7/16/13 RP 26. As the hearing continued, 

defense counsel interrupted the proceedings saying 

I am going to put on record something my client just said 
to me, because I believe it is wholly inappropriate. 

If this continues he and I will have a problem. He said 
something to the effect "if you play with fire, you get 
burned." I don't know what he decides - - he means by 
that. 

When the court asked him to explain what he meant, Mr. Afeworki 

explained "If there is any type of lawsuit, I am going to sue his ass too. 

That is exactly what I mean, you play with fire you get burned." Id. at 

34 

Although it had just denied his request to proceed pro se, the 

court announced that if defense counsel believed he needed to 
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withdraw, Mr. Afeworki would be required to proceed pro se. 7/16/13 

RP 38. 

The following day defense counsel made a motion to withdraw. 

7/17/13 RP 56. Mr. Afeworki stated he did not object. Id. Mr. Afeworki 

then asked for appointment of new counsel. Id. at 60. The State agreed 

that withdrawal of defense counsel required appointment of new 

counsel. 7/17/13 RP 63. Telling Mr. Afeworki "you cannot be rewarded 

by your disruption and by your actions in giving you a new attorney" 

the court instead began a colloquy to attempt to determine if Mr. 

Afeworki was waiving his right to counsel. Id. at 70-73. At the 

conclusion of that colloquy, the court stated it had "grave concerns" 

about Mr. Afeworki's competence to represent himself. Id. at 83. The 

court did not issue a ruling. 

The next day, the court refused to appoint Mr. Afeworki a new 

attorney. 7/18/13 RP 114. The court found Mr. Afeworki knowing and 

intelligently waived his right to counsel. Id. at 115-16. The court also 

found Mr. Afeworki had waived his right to counsel by his actions. CP 

556-58. 
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Four days later the trial began. Mr. Afeworki repeatedly 

requested appointment of counsel. 7/22113 RP 211-16, 276; 7/23/13 RP 

8. The court denied those motions. 

b. Mr. Afeworki had the right to appointed counsel. 

By way of the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause, the 

Sixth Amendment right to counsel requires states appoint counsel for 

indigent defendants. Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 344, 83 S. 

Ct. 792, 9 L. Ed. 2d 799 (1963); Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 53 S. 

Ct. 55, 77 L. Ed. 158 (1932). Article I, section 22 of the Washington 

Constitution explicitly guarantees a defendant the right to "appear and 

defend in person, or by counsel." State v. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d 496, 503, 

229 P.3d 714 (2010). The United States Supreme Court has recognized 

the Sixth Amendment implicitly provides a right to self-representation. 

Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 

562 (1975). 

A valid waiver of counsel requires the trial court ensure the 

accused knowingly, voluntarily, and intentionally relinquishes this 

fundamental constitutional right. Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 456,464, 

58 S. Ct. 1019,82 L. Ed. 1461 (1938). Washington courts have held 

that once a person validly waives his right to counsel, there is no 
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absolute right to reappointment and instead it is a question left to the

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