NO. 70762-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V

TOMAS AFEWORKI,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE LAURA GENE MIDDAUGH, JUDGE

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DEBORAH A. DWYER Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

ld. at 378-79.

Like DeWeese, Afeworki rejected the assistance of experienced defense counsel. Going forward pro se was his own choice; he cannot now argue that his waiver of counsel was invalid.

c. Afeworki Waived His Right To Counsel By His Conduct.

In addition to his knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver of counsel, Afeworki also waived his right to counsel by his conduct. "Waiver by conduct" requires that a defendant be warned of the consequences of his actions, including the risks of proceeding pro se. Tacoma v. Bishop, 82 Wn. App. 850, 859, 920 P.2d 214 (1996) (citing United States v. Goldberg, 67 F.3d 1092, 1101 (3rd Cir. 1995)). "Once a defendant has been warned that he will lose his attorney if he engages in dilatory tactics, any misconduct thereafter may be treated as an implied request to proceed pro se and, thus, as a waiver of the right to counsel." Id. (citing Goldberg, 67 F.3d at 1100).

Afeworki's claim that he was not warned that his behavior could be deemed a waiver of the right to counsel (BOA at 24) is again belied by the record. Immediately after the threat to Bible ("If you play with fire, you get burned."), the trial court warned Afeworki of the consequences of such behavior going forward:

[I]t is important for you to know that you cannot create a situation where this trial will not go forward, which is what I think that you are intending and trying to do. . . .

Bishop has been cited with approval in recent years by the Washington Supreme Court. <u>City of Seattle v. Klein</u>, 161 Wn.2d 554, 562, 166 P.3d 1149 (2007).

If Mr. Bible says that he cannot continue because of what you say or do towards him and the associate counsel is unable to take over as counsel, you will be allowed to go pro se. But, you will step in at that moment with no additional prep time, nothing.

8RP 35, 37; see also CP 556-57 (¶ 4). The court had just reminded Afeworki that his motion for a new attorney had been denied. 8RP 36; CP 557 (¶ 4). And the risks of self-representation had been brought home to Afeworki on more than one occasion. 23RP 12-14, 17-23; 9RP 77-86.

Afeworki did not cease his misbehavior. As they were leaving the very hearing at which Afeworki had been warned of the consequences, Afeworki accused Bible of "shak[ing] [Afeworki's] sister down" for money. 9RP 53-54. Bible reported this to the court the next day and explained that, under the circumstances, he perceived this comment as a threat to his livelihood. 9RP 54-55. Bible also reported that Afeworki had told Bible that he knew Bible's little sister, Eva. 9RP 93; CP 557 (¶ 6). In light of Afeworki's other comments, Bible could reasonably perceive this as a threat as well.

The record is thus clear that Afeworki deliberately persisted with the same type of threatening and harassing behavior even after being warned by the court that any more such behavior would result in his attorney being allowed to withdraw, no new attorney being

appointed, and Afeworki being required to represent himself with no continuance of his trial. Accordingly, Afeworki waived his right to counsel by his own conduct.

"What the defendant cannot obtain because of a lack of a valid reason, that defendant should not be able to obtain through disruption of trial or a refusal to participate. A defendant may not manipulate the right to counsel for the purpose of delaying and disrupting trial." DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d at 379. The record is replete with Afeworki's manipulation. See, e.g., 23RP 21 (when offered a new lawyer, Afeworki insists on representing himself), 33-34 (withdrawing from pro se status one week later, "[u]nder duress and under fear"); 8RP 24, 26 (insisting on his constitutional right to represent himself); 9RP 60 (one day later, upon being told he will be allowed to represent himself – "I would like a different attorney. I would like a different attorney."). The trial court repeatedly and reasonably concluded that Afeworki's purpose was to delay and disrupt his trial. 8RP 35; 9RP 67-70, 92-93; 10RP 115-16; 11RP 212-13; 12RP 22; CP 558. He should not be allowed to profit from this manipulation.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN ORDERING AFEWORKI TO WEAR A SECURITY DEVICE THAT WAS INVISIBLE TO THE JURY AND HAD NO EFFECT ON THE OUTCOME OF HIS TRIAL.

Afeworki claims that the trial court simply deferred to the wishes of security officers in ordering Afeworki to wear an invisible electronic restraint during his trial. In doing so, Afeworki argues, the court abused its discretion. He further argues that the alleged error was not harmless, and that his conviction must be reversed.

Afeworki's claim fails. There was ample evidence in the record of Afeworki's disorderly and disruptive behavior in court.

Moreover, the trial court chose the least restrictive means – the "Band-It" electronic restraint system, which is worn under clothing and is thus invisible to the jurors. Finally, because the jurors could not have been aware of the "Band-It," because there is no evidence that the device had a deleterious effect on Afeworki's presentation of his case, and because there was overwhelming evidence that Afeworki murdered Michael Yohannes, any error in ordering the "Band-It" was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

a. The Trial Court Had A Sufficient Basis To Order Afeworki To Wear The Band-It.

Following a hearing in the trial court, the court ordered that Afeworki be required to wear an electronic device known as the "Band-It." 10RP 140-53; CP 265. The device is essentially a tazer contained in a band that is worn under a sleeve or pant leg. 10RP 148. The device is invisible when worn. 10RP 148. It does not constrain the wearer's movements in any way. 10RP 149.

"[A] defendant in a criminal case is entitled to appear at trial free from all bonds or shackles except in extraordinary circumstances." State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 772, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001). At the same time, trial courts have broad discretion in deciding what security measures are necessary to maintain decorum in the courtroom and protect the safety of its occupants.

State v. Damon, 144 Wn.2d 686, 691, 25 P.3d 418 (2001). The court must base its decision to physically restrain a defendant on evidence indicating that the defendant poses an imminent risk of escape, that the defendant intends to injure someone in the courtroom, or that the defendant cannot behave in an orderly manner while in the courtroom. State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 850, 975 P.2d 967 (1999).

Courts have set out a list of specific factors that may be considered in determining whether the use of restraints is justified:

1) the seriousness of the present charge; 2) the defendant's temperament and character; 3) his age and physical attributes;

4) his past criminal record; 5) past escapes or attempted escapes, and evidence of a present plan to escape; 6) threats to harm others or cause a disturbance; 7) self-destructive tendencies; 8) the risk of mob violence or of attempted revenge by others; 9) the possibility of rescue by other offenders still at large; 10) the size and mood of the audience; 11) the nature and physical security of the courtroom; and 12) the adequacy and availability of alternative remedies.

Damon, 144 Wn.2d at 691.

A number of these considerations support some type of restraint in Afeworki's case. Afeworki was charged with an extremely serious offense – first degree murder with a firearm. CP

1. He was subject to either a life-without-parole sentence (if found to be a persistent offender) or an extremely high term-of-years sentence based on his high offender score. CP 565.

Afeworki's unruly temperament was on display throughout the trial. The trial court more than once threatened to have him removed from the courtroom because he was disrupting the

proceedings. 8RP 16, 18, 27; 23RP 224-25 (court had Afeworki removed and terminated proceeding). The court was forced on numerous occasions to chide him for interrupting the court and counsel. 4RP 15-19; 8RP 7-8; 16RP 12; 23RP 73-74. He was repeatedly rude to the court. 8RP 35 ("I don't want to hear nothing from you, your Honor."); 15RP 24 ("I don't got time for that shit."); 18RP 6 ("Bullshit. I don't want to hear nothing more you have to say."), 165 ("You're crazy. You lost your rabid-ass mind in this courtroom."); 20RP 14 ("You crazy."), 126-27 ("My God, are we done? . . . So are we done? Are we done or what?"); 23RP 89 ("[E]verything that you're saying just sounds like a whole bunch of bullshit."). During a hearing on July 16, 2013 (only two days before the court ordered the "Band-It"), the court was forced to recess the proceedings twice in an attempt to control Afeworki's disruptive behavior, and the number of jail personnel in the courtroom was doubled from two officers to four. CP 249-50; 8RP 12, 36.

As to age and physical attributes, Afeworki was born on September 19, 1983; he was thus in his late 20's during these proceedings. CP 572. He was 5'10" tall, and weighed 190 pounds. CP 6. There is nothing to indicate that he was not capable of

physically disrupting the court, should his anger and frustration boil over.

Afeworki's criminal record was replete with serious crimes, including second degree assault with a weapon, first and second degree burglary, unlawful imprisonment, first degree unlawful possession of a firearm, and possession of cocaine. CP 569.

Moreover, counsel and the court reasonably believed that this conviction might very well be Afeworki's third strike. CP 636; 23RP 196. As the attorney for the King County Jail noted, Afeworki's status as a potential persistent offender left him with "nothing to lose" should he attempt to escape or assault someone in the courtroom. 10RP 123, 141.

In addition to his verbally aggressive behavior toward the court, Afeworki had actually threatened his attorney. He bible, who was well acquainted with his client and had heard the threat ("If you play with fire, you get burned."), quite reasonably did not believe that it was limited to a threat to sue. 8RP 33; 9RP 93. Afeworki made additional comments that Bible took to be threats to both his livelihood and the well-being of his younger sister. 9RP 53-55, 93.

¹⁴ The jail's attorney explicitly relied on this threat at the hearing as part of the reason for security concerns. 10RP 155.

While there was no direct evidence of an escape plan, or rescue by others, the attorney for the jail cited evidence of Afeworki's membership in at least two gangs, which might provide assistance in escape or in assaulting someone in the courtroom.

10RP 141.

Finally, the court considered and rejected other, more restrictive alternatives, such as a belly chain with standard handcuffs, or soft hand restraints. 10RP 147-48, 152.

Contrary to Afeworki's claim, the court did not simply accept the jail's suggestions as to security measures. While the court accepted the jail's assessment of Afeworki's "security risk level," this was not the sole basis for the court's decision. In response to Afeworki's insistence that he would not cause problems, the court relied on its own experience: "I hardly have defendants, when this issue comes up who say, 'oh yes, I am going to jump up and attack.' It usually happens in a fit of anger." 10RP 152.

Thus, many of the factors that support some type of courtroom restraint are present in this case. ¹⁵ Moreover, it is important to recognize the nature of the Band-It system. Unlike

¹⁵ The numerous factors supporting the use of the electronic restraint belie Afeworki's argument that the trial court based its decision solely on Afeworki's exercise of his right to represent himself. BOA at 26-27.

most restraints, which are either visible to a jury or readily perceived by jurors, the band employed in Afeworki's case is placed under a shirt sleeve or a pant leg; it is invisible when the person is clothed. 10RP 148. As such, it could not have undermined the presumption of innocence in the jury's eyes. *Cf.* <u>Damon</u>, 144 Wn.2d at 692-93 (jurors were aware that defendant was confined in a restraint chair); <u>Clark</u>, 143 Wn.2d 774 (jurors could infer shackling from defendant's "stilted and restrained movement").

Afeworki relies on federal cases to argue that electronic restraints raise the same constitutional concerns as bonds or shackles. BOA at 7-8. But both Gonzalez v. Pliler, 341 F.3d 897 (9th Cir. 2003) and United States v. Durham, 287 F.3d 1297 (11th Cir. 2002) involved "stun belts." These devices have metal prongs that may leave welts on the skin that can take six months to heal. Gonzalez, 341 F.3d at 899. It is easy to conceive how such a device could have a lasting impact on a defendant throughout the trial. By contrast, there is no indication in this record that the Band-It causes any pain or discomfort to the wearer.

Moreover, there is no reason to believe that the likelihood of fear and anxiety relied upon in those cases was present here. The jail's attorney assured the court that Afeworki would be informed every morning of what activities – e.g., lunging at someone – would cause the Band-It to be activated. He was informed that rudeness or interrupting the court would not trigger this consequence. And because Afeworki remained seated at counsel table throughout the trial, the chances that he would make a move that would inadvertently lead to activation of the device were minimized. Afeworki can point to nothing in the record indicating that the Band-It system caused him undue anxiety, or in any way hindered him in presenting his case to the jury.

b. Any Error Was Harmless.

A claim of unconstitutional shackling is subject to harmless error analysis. State v. Elmore, 139 Wn.2d 250, 274, 985 P.2d 289 (1999). In order to succeed on such a claim, a defendant must show "a substantial or injurious effect or influence on the jury's verdict." Id. (quoting State v. Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d 863, 888, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998)). Other than the vaguest generalities, Afeworki has not even attempted to show how the Band-It system affected

. . .

¹⁶ The trial court required both the prosecutor and Afeworki to remain seated at counsel table during the trial. 10RP 141, 142, 144.

him or deprived him of a fair trial. Any error was harmless. See Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d at 888 ("The Defendant does not argue persuasively that he was prejudiced in any way by the unseen restraints. Accordingly, we hold that any error was harmless.").

Even if it is the State's burden to show that any error in using the Band-It was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the burden has been met on this record. Error of constitutional magnitude is harmless if the reviewing court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result had the error not occurred. State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 724, 230 P.3d 576 (2010).

First of all, given that the band Afeworki wore was invisible to the jury, caused him no pain, and was unlikely under the circumstances of this case to have caused such fear and anxiety as to hamper him in the presentation of his defense, it cannot be said that the device affected the outcome of his trial. See State v.

Jennings, 111 Wn. App. 54, 61, 44 P.3d 1 (2002), review denied,

148 Wn.2d 1001 (2003) (finding any error harmless where stun belt was not visible to jury); State v. Monschke, 133 Wn. App. 313, 336-37, 135 P.3d 566 (2006), review denied, 159 Wn.2d 1010 (2007) (finding that defendant had not shown prejudice where stun belt

was invisible and defendant offered only conclusory statements that belt hampered his participation in his defense); see also Arizona v. Benson, 232 Ariz. 452, 461-62, 307 P.3d 19 (2013) (distinguishing stun belt from such visible restraints as shackles and gags); Mungo v. United States, 987 A.2d 1145, 1149 (D.C. 2010) (questioning whether stun belt is a "physical restraint" for purposes of cases governing use of restraints).

Moreover, the evidence against Afeworki was overwhelming. An eyewitness who was acquainted with Afeworki identified him as the shooter. Several other eyewitnesses identified him by his distinctive clothing. He was followed from the scene by a witness who pointed out to police the building (if not the exact door) that the shooter had entered. Afeworki was the only person in the bathroom in the Zaina Restaurant, and he was arrested as soon as he emerged. The gun that was used in the shooting was found in the trash can in that bathroom. A partial DNA profile linked Afeworki to the gun with a probability level of 1/120,000. Shortly after his arrest, Afeworki made a statement to a homicide detective that a jury would likely interpret as a confession of guilt ("Man, I am going to be as old as you when I get out.").

, . . .

Under all of these circumstances, it is clear that any error in requiring Afeworki to wear an invisible electronic device while presenting his case to the jury was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

D. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm Afeworki's conviction for Murder in the First Degree.